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AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024

A. Fund Information

1. Name of Fund

Amanah Hartanah Bumiputera (the "Fund”)

2. Type of Fund

Income

3. Category of Fund

Real estate backed assets (unit trust)

4. Duration of Fund

The Fund is an open-ended fund.

5. Fund launch date

29 November 2010

6. Price per unit

The price of a unit of the Fund is fixed at Ringgit Malaysia ("RM") 1.00.

7. Fund’s investment objective

8. Fund's distribution policy

9. Fund's performance benchmark

12-months Islamic Fixed Deposit-i of Maybank Islamic Berhad ("MIB").

Although the Fund beneficially owns the Real Estate Assets, it will not enjoy any capital gain or loss

from the appreciation or depreciation in respect of the Real Estate Assets due to the Sale Undertaking

and Purchase Undertaking except where the right of the Sponsor to repurchase the beneficial

ownership of a Real Estate Assets at the Exercise Price is lost under the terms of the Transaction

Documents. Hence, the return to the unitholders' investment in the Fund is limited to the income from

the lease rentals received by the Fund pursuant to the Lease Agreements and income from other

investments.

The Fund seeks to provide unitholders with a regular and consistent income stream whilst preserving

unitholders’ investment capital. Any material changes to the investment objective of the Fund would

require unitholders’ approval.

Distributions may be made from the income of the Fund at the election of Maybank Asset Management

Sdn Bhd (the "Manager") in consultation with Pelaburan Hartanah Berhad (the "Sponsor"), on a semi-

annual basis or at such other times as the Manager in its sole discretion may determine, subject to

approval from AmanahRaya Trustee Berhad (the "Trustee").

Since Zakat is considered as an allowable expense of the Fund, the Fund pays Zakat on behalf of the

unitholders. Therefore, income distribution received by unitholders is net of Zakat.

(i)



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 (cont'd)

A. Fund Information (cont'd)

10. Fund's investment policy and principal investment strategy

The asset allocation strategy of the Fund is as follows:

Investments Limits

11. Net income distribution for the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024.

Below are details of distributions declared during the current financial period:

Gross/ Net Bonus 

distribution Total distribution

per unit distribution (Note)

(sen) (RM) (sen)

31 March 2024                 2.20    102,089,589                 0.30 

The Sponsor announced a bonus distribution of 0.30 sen per unit on 31 March 2024 for the first

500,000 units held by each unitholder. As the payment of bonus distribution will be made directly by the

Sponsor to the unitholders, there is no financial impact to the Fund.

Note:

The distribution declared during the current financial period does not have any impact to the Fund's

VOF per unit as the price per unit of the Fund is fixed at RM1.00.

(ii)

Distribution date

The Fund seeks to achieve its investment objective by investing up to 100% of the Fund's net asset

value ("VOF"), at cost, in the beneficial ownership of real estates in Malaysia and acquired from the

Sponsor or its affiliates in particular commercial properties including but not limited to office buildings,

shopping complexes, commercial centres, logistic and industrial complexes. The Fund also invests in

Shariah-compliant money market instruments and equivalent instruments and holds cash to meet its

cash requirements.

The Fund distributed a total net income of RM102,089,589 to unitholders for the financial period from 1

October 2023 to 31 March 2024.

34% to 100% of the Fund's VOF may be

invested in beneficial ownership of real estate

in Malaysia

Investment in beneficial ownership of real estates in

Malaysia which are Shariah-compliant

Cash and any other money market instruments which

are Shariah-compliant

0% to 66% of the Fund's VOF may be invested

in cash and any other money market

instruments



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 (cont'd)

B. Performance Review

1. Key performance data of the Fund

01.10.2023 01.10.2022 01.10.2022

to to to

31.03.2024 31.03.2023 30.09.2023

Portfolio composition

- Lease assets (%) 95.29             99.26             99.34             

- Cash and other net assets (%) 4.71               0.74               0.66               

Total (%) 100.00           100.00           100.00           

VOF (RM'000) 5,006,644 4,655,355 4,651,688

Units in circulation (units'000) 5,000,000 4,650,000 4,650,000

VOF per unit (RM) 1.00               1.00               1.00               

Annual return (%)
(1)

- Capital growth (%) - - -

- Income distribution (%) 2.20               2.20               4.45               

Total return (%) 2.20               2.20               4.45               

Benchmark (%) 1.39               1.39               2.85               

Distribution dates

Semi-annual 31.03.2024 31.03.2023 31.03.2022

Final -                     -                     30.09.2022

Gross/ Net distribution per unit (sen)

Semi-annual 2.20               2.20               2.20               

Final - - 2.25               

Total 2.20
(2)

2.20               4.45               

Total Expense Ratio ("TER") (%) 0.22               0.26               0.50               

Portfolio Turnover Ratio ("PTR") (times)
(3)

- - -

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3) As the Fund invests in beneficial ownership of lease assets, PTR is not applicable to the Fund.

(iii)

Category

Actual return of the Fund is based on income distribution made in the respective financial period/

year, and is computed based on the daily VOF per unit, net of Manager's and Trustee's fees.

In addition to the distribution made by the Fund, the Sponsor also announced a bonus distribution

for the distributions declared on 31 March 2024 for the first 500,000 units held by each unitholder.

As the payment of bonus distribution will be made directly by the Sponsor to the unitholders, there

is no financial impact to the Fund.



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 (cont'd)

B. Performance Review (cont'd)

2. Performance of the Fund up to 31 March 2024

6 months 1 year 3 years 5 years

to to to to

31.03.2024 31.03.2024 31.03.2024 31.03.2024

% % % %

- - - -

                2.20                 4.45               13.13               22.13 

                2.20                 4.45               13.13               22.13 

                1.39                 2.84                 7.34               12.82 

                4.45                 4.38                 4.43 

3.

01.10.2023 01.10.2022 01.10.2021 01.10.2020 01.10.2019

to to to to to

31.03.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2022 30.09.2021 30.09.2020

Annual total return (%) 2.20               4.45               4.33               4.30               4.55               

Benchmark (%) 1.39               2.85               2.01               1.85               2.54               

4. Basis of calculation made in calculating the returns

An illustration of the above would be as follow:

Capital return =  VOF per unit end / VOF per unit begin - 1

Income return =  Income distribution per unit / VOF per unit ex-date

Total return = (1 + Capital return) x (1 + Income return) - 1

C. Market and Economic Review

Category

Average total return

Annual total return of the Fund

Category

Capital growth

Income distribution

Total return 

Benchmark

During the period under review, investors globally were generally bullish as economic data out of the United

States (“US”) came out resilient, increasing possibility for a soft landing scenario versus earlier expectations

of a hard landing. Investors were pricing in for the US Federal Reserve (“Fed”) to cut profit rates at an

aggressive pace, pushing markets higher in the first quarter of 2024. For the period, developed equity

markets performed well with Nasdaq, Standard and Poor’s 500 (“S&P500”) and Dow Jones rising 23.91%,

22.53% and 18.80% respectively. European markets were also positive, with the Stoxx 50 up by 21.77%

and German Dax rising 20.19%. North Asia was however mixed, with Japan, Taiwan and India gaining

26.72%, 24.10% and 13.69% respectively whereas Hong Kong and China chalked negative returns of -

7.12% and -10.49% respectively. Association of Southeast Asian Nations (“ASEAN”) was generally up

during the period under review save for Thailand. Philippines, Malaysia and Indonesia led the gains with

returns of 9.21%, 7.86% and 5.03% respectively whereas Singapore was only marginally up by 0.21%.

Thailand bucked the trend as the market was down -6.35%. Domestically, the broader Shariah index FBM

Emas Shariah was up 7.07% over the 6-month period ending 31 March 2024. 

For 2024, global growth will continue to pick up, mainly driven by the strength in US economy. Investors are

still very much optimistic that the Fed will be able to engineer a soft landing. Whilst retail sales in the US

remain soft, job growth has been encouraging. Europe is also showing signs of stabilising. 

Investors are reminded that past performance of the Fund may not be indicative of its future performance and

that unit prices and investment returns may fluctuate.

The performance figures are a comparison of the growth/ decline in VOF after taking into account all

the distributions payable (if any) during the stipulated period.

(iv)



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 (cont'd)

C. Market and Economic Review (cont'd)

D. Commercial Properties Market Review and Outlook

For retail market, we continue to believe that despite strong rebound in retail sales and consumer sentiment,

the market will continue to be tough amidst rising cost of living. Recent hike in sales and service tax (“SST”)

from 6.00% to 8.00%, the introduction of luxury tax as well as restructuring of electricity subsidies will

continue to dampen consumer sentiment. Rising cost remains a big concern not just amongst consumer -

retail business owners are also facing challenges in terms of operational costs. In addition, post Coronavirus

disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic, companies continue to accelerate the transition to online platforms,

and hence the increased optimism might not also flow down to significantly higher brick and mortar sales.

On the other hand, a potential improvement in in-bound tourism could partially buffer weak domestic

spending and provide some support to the retail property market. 

Meanwhile, industrial space continued to show resiliency amidst healthier supply and demand dynamics. On

a macro perspective, various economic initiatives by the government such as National Energy

Transformation (“NETR”), as well as the potential Special Economic Zone (“SZE”) in Johor and major

projects such as the LRT3, Penang LRT, Johor LRT, MRT3 and the biggest of the lot, the High-Speed Rail

will continue to support industrial activities in Malaysia. Klang Valley continues to be on positive growth

momentum whilst Johor and Penang will continue to be in the spotlight. China’s reopening in late 2022 and

rising global e-commerce trade means demand will remain strong for logistics and warehousing space. Data

centers development in Malaysia is also seeing rapid growth due to availability of land and renewable

energy in Malaysia, coupled with favourable support from the government. Whilst Cyberjaya has always

been the frontrunner in Malaysia’s data center development, Johor is catching up in terms of growth, further

supported by the freeze on data center developments in Singapore. 

For Malaysia, we are likely to see slower economic growth, partly due to the diminishing low-base effect and

weakness in China’s economy. Bank Negara Malaysia (“BNM”) is confident that Malaysia will be able to

achieve growth of 4.00% to 5.00% for 2024, to be driven by household spending, improvement in

investments from ongoing multi-year projects and national masterplans, global trade recovery amidst the

tech upcycle as well as rebound in tourism. 

In terms of profit rates, The Federal Open Market Committee (“FOMC”) kept rates unchanged in its March

2024 meeting. Despite higher than anticipated inflation figures recently, Fed continues with its dovish

undertone with projection of three rate cuts in 2024. However recent escalation of the decades-long conflict

between Iran and Israel may cause inflation to be higher for longer, in particular due to higher energy prices,

shipping costs and insurance premium. With US inflation data already on the higher side versus initial

expectations earlier during the year, the case for US rate cuts is now weakening. In fact, US policymakers

are recently signalling for later than anticipated profit rate cuts. For Malaysia’s overnight policy rate (“OPR”)

rate, we are keeping our end 2024 target unchanged at 3.00%, deemed to be slightly accommodative.

Against this backdrop, the 12-month General Investment Account-i of Maybank Islamic Berhad registered a

return of 2.20%.

Whilst the Klang Valley office market is expected to be stable with modest recovery, according to Knight

Frank Research’s Malaysia Real Estate Highlights for 2H 2023. Demand is on a positive momentum, driven

by requests for good quality spaces within technology, finance and various professional services. Increasing

Environment, Social and Governance (“ESG”) awareness amongst corporates has also resulted in more

profit in green buildings. Selangor office space continues to be better than Kuala Lumpur as demand in

decentralised but highly accessible locations continued to be healthy. Growth in leasing activities continued

to be driven by larger pool of tenants, attractive rental rates and leasing packages as well as improved rail

network in decentralised locations. In terms of the market development, co-working space continue to be in

demand due to flexibility for companies to adjust according to their growth pace and needs. Meanwhile,

supply in Kuala Lumpur city area continue to increase, which may pose as a threat to the expected modest

recovery.

(v)



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 (cont'd)

E. Significant Changes in The State of Affairs of the Fund


(vi)

Subsequent to issuance of the Prospectus dated 1 December 2020, First Supplementary Prospectus dated

30 November 2022 and the Second Supplementary Prospectus dated 15 November 2023, the Third

Supplementary Prospectus dated 18 January 2024 was issued and modified as follows:

NO PRINCIPAL PROSPECTUS THIRD SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS 

1.  Chapter 1 - Definitions, “Empire Shopping Gallery” 
 
Empire 
Shopping 
Gallery 

: Commercial building known as 
Empire Shopping Gallery 
comprising:- 
 
i. 5-storey retail podium consisting 

of approximately 213 retail outlets 
(“Podium”) and parcel No.26 
(formerly known as parcel No.27) 
located at level Lower Ground of 
the Podium; 
 

ii. Upper ground, ground level and 4 
levels of basement car parks, 
consisting of at least 1414 car 
parking bays, the associated 
access ramps and the driveways 
located below the Podium; 

 
iii. 12 parcels of small office home 

office located at level 2 of a 
building identified as “Building B” 
comprising parcels B-02-09, B-
02-10, B-02-11, B-02-12, B-02-
13, B-02-13A, B-02-15, B-02-16, 
B-02-17, B-02-18, B-02-19 and B-
02-20; and  

 
iv. The lobby of a building identified 

as “Building C” together with its 
accessory parcels located at 
levels 4 and 5; 

 
held under one (1) master title known 
as Geran 238145, Lot 62011, Bandar 
Subang Jaya, Daerah Petaling, 
Negeri Selangor Darul Ehsan 
measuring approximately 15,470 
square meters. 
 

 

Chapter 1 - Definitions, “NU Empire” 
 
NU Empire : Commercial building known as NU Empire 

comprising:- 
 
 
i. 5-storey retail podium consisting of 

approximately 213 retail outlets 
(“Podium”) and parcel No. 26 located 
at level Lower Ground of the Podium; 
 
 

ii. Upper ground, ground level and 4 
levels of basement car parks, 
consisting of at least 1414 car parking 
bays, the associated access ramps 
and the driveways located below the 
Podium; 

 
iii. 12 parcels of small office home office 

located at level 2 of a building 
identified as “Building B” comprising 
parcels B-02-09, B-02-10, B-02-11, B-
02-12, B-02-13, B-02-13A, B-02-15, 
B-02-16, B-02-17, B-02-18, B-02-19 
and B-02-20; and 

 
iv. The lobby of a building identified as 

“Building C” together with its 
accessory parcels located at levels 4 
and 5; 

 
held under one (1) master title known as 
Geran 238145, Lot 62011, Bandar 
Subang Jaya, Daerah Petaling, Negeri 
Selangor Darul Ehsan measuring 
approximately 15,470 square meters. 
 
Note: NU Empire was previously known 
as Empire Shopping Gallery 
 

 

2.  Chapter 1 - Definitions, “Empire Shopping Gallery 
Lease Agreement” 
 
Empire 
Shopping 
Gallery 
Lease 
Agreement 

: The lease agreement entered into 
between the Trustee (as lessor) and 
the Sponsor (as lessee) dated 8 
August 2017 on the principle of Ijarah 
whereby the Trustee agreed to lease 
the beneficial ownership of Empire 
Shopping Gallery to the Sponsor in 
consideration of the lease payment of 
RM21.0 million per annum to the 
Fund for a period of 10 years 
commencing from 15 September 
2017 (or any other date as may be 
agreed upon by the parties in writing) 
and subject to such extension and 
rental revision as may be agreed by 
the Trustee and the Sponsor; and 
shall include any amendments, 
substitutions, variations or 
supplementals there to. 

 

Chapter 1 - Definitions, “NU Empire Lease Agreement” 
 
NU Empire 
Lease 
Agreement 

: The lease agreement entered into 
between the Trustee (as lessor) and the 
Sponsor (as lessee) dated 8 August 2017 
on the principle of Ijarah whereby the 
Trustee agreed to lease the beneficial 
ownership of NU Empire to the Sponsor in 
consideration of the lease payment of 
RM21.0 million per annum to the Fund for 
a period of 10 years commencing from 15 
September 2017 (or any other date as 
may be agreed upon by the parties in 
writing) and subject to such extension and 
rental revision as may be agreed by the 
Trustee and the Sponsor; and shall 
include any amendments, substitutions, 
variations or supplementals thereto. 
 
Note: NU Empire was previously known 
as Empire Shopping Gallery 
 

 

 



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 (cont'd)

E. Significant Changes in The State of Affairs of the Fund (cont'd)

(vii)

NO PRINCIPAL PROSPECTUS THIRD SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS 

3. Chapter 1 - Definitions, “Lease Agreements” 
 
Lease 
Agreements 

: (i) Avisena Specialist Hospital 
Lease Agreement; 

(ii) Menara Prisma Lease 
Agreement; 

(iii) CP Tower Lease Agreement; 
(iv) LF Logistics Warehouse 

Lease Agreement; 
(v) Wisma Consplant Lease 

Agreement; 
(vi) Dataran PHB Properties 

Lease Agreement; 
(vii) Lotus’s Setia Alam Lease 

Agreement; 
(viii) Block C, Dataran PHB 

Lease Agreement; 
(ix) PJ33 Lease Agreement; 
(x) Menara BT Lease Agreement; 
(xi) Menara 1 Dutamas Lease 

Agreement; 
(xii) One Precinct Lease 

Agreement; 
(xiii) The Shore Shopping Mall 

Lease Agreement; 
(xiv) Menara 1 Sentrum Lease 

Agreement; 
(xv) Nu Sentral Lease Agreement; 
(xvi) Gleneagles Hospital 

(Block B) Lease Agreement; 
(xvii) Quill 18 Lease Agreement; 
(xviii) Menara Teras Lease 

Agreement; 
(xix) Empire Shopping Gallery 

Lease Agreement; 
(xx) Hospital Pakar Damansara 2 

Lease Agreement; 
(xxi) Marlborough College 

Lease Agreement; and  
(xxii) any other lease 

agreements to be entered into 
in respect of Real Estate 
Assets, collectively 

 
 

Chapter 1 - Definitions, “Lease Agreements” 
 
Lease 
Agreements 

: (i) Avisena Specialist Hospital 
Lease Agreement; 

(ii) Menara Prisma Lease 
Agreement; 

(iii) CP Tower Lease 
Agreement; 

(iv) Maersk Warehouse Lease 
Agreement; 

(v) Wisma Consplant Lease 
Agreement; 

(vi) Dataran PHB Properties 
Lease Agreement; 

(vii) Lotus’s Setia Alam Lease 
Agreement; 

(viii) Block C, Dataran PHB 
Lease Agreement; 

(ix) PJ33 Lease Agreement; 
(x) Menara BT Lease 

Agreement; 
(xi) Menara 1 Dutamas Lease 

Agreement; 
(xii) One Precinct Lease 

Agreement; 
(xiii) The Shore Shopping 

Mall Lease Agreement; 
(xiv) Menara 1 Sentrum 

Lease Agreement; 
(xv) Nu Sentral Lease 

Agreement; 
(xvi) Gleneagles Hospital 

(Block B) Lease 
Agreement; 

(xvii) Quill 18 Lease 
Agreement; 

(xviii) Menara Teras Lease 
Agreement; 

(xix) NU Empire Lease 
Agreement; 

(xx) Hospital Pakar Damansara 
2 Lease Agreement; 

(xxi) Marlborough College 
Lease Agreement; and  

(xxii) any other lease 
agreements to be entered 
into in respect of Real 
Estate Assets, collectively 

 
 

4. Chapter 1 - Definitions, “Lease Assets” 
 
Lease 
Assets 

:  (i) Menara Prisma; 
(ii) CP Tower; 
(iii) LF Logistics Warehouse; 
(iv) Wisma Consplant; 
(v) Lotus’s Setia Alam; 
(vi) Avisena Specialist Hospital; 
(vii) Dataran PHB Properties; 
(viii) Block C, Dataran PHB; 
(ix) Menara BT; 
(x) PJ33; 
(xi) Menara 1 Dutamas; 
(xii) One Precinct; 
(xiii) The Shore Shopping Mall; 
(xiv) Menara 1 Sentrum; 
(xv) Nu Sentral; 
(xvi) Gleneagles Hospital (Block 

B); 
(xvii) Quill 18; 
(xviii) Menara Teras; 
(xix) Empire Shopping Gallery; 
(xx) Hospital Pakar Damansara 2; 

and 
(xxi) Marlborough College 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Chapter 1 - Definitions, “Lease Assets” 
 
Lease 
Assets 

: (i) Menara Prisma; 
(ii) CP Tower; 
(iii) Maersk Warehouse; 
(iv) Wisma Consplant; 
(v) Lotus’s Setia Alam; 
(vi) Avisena Specialist Hospital; 
(vii) Dataran PHB Properties; 
(viii) Block C, Dataran PHB; 
(ix) Menara BT; 
(x) PJ33; 
(xi) Menara 1 Dutamas; 
(xii) One Precinct; 
(xiii) The Shore Shopping Mall; 
(xiv) Menara 1 Sentrum; 
(xv) Nu Sentral; 
(xvi) Gleneagles Hospital (Block B); 
(xvii) Quill 18; 
(xviii) Menara Teras; 
(xix) NU Empire; 
(xx) Hospital Pakar Damansara 2; and 
(xxi) Marlborough College 

 

 



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 (cont'd)

E. Significant Changes in The State of Affairs of the Fund (cont'd)

(viii)

NO PRINCIPAL PROSPECTUS THIRD SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS 

5. Chapter 1 - Definitions, “LF Logistics Warehouse” 
 
LF 
Logistics 
Warehouse 

: A purpose built warehouse complex 
held under GRN 341478, Lot 61739, 
Pekan Baru Hicom, Daerah Petaling, 
Negeri Selangor (formerly held under 
HS(D) 118807, P.T. 16870, Mukim 
Damansara, Daerah Petaling, Negeri 
Selangor Darul Ehsan) 

 

Chapter 1 - Definitions, “Maersk Warehouse” 
 
Maersk 
Warehouse  

: A purpose built warehouse complex held 
under GRN 341478, Lot 61739, Pekan 
Baru Hicom, Daerah Petaling, Negeri 
Selangor (formerly held under HS(D) 
118807, P.T. 16870, Mukim Damansara, 
Daerah Petaling, Negeri Selangor Darul 
Ehsan) 
 
Note: Maersk Warehouse was previously 
known as LF Logistics Warehouse 
 

 

6. Chapter 1 - Definitions, “LF Logistics Warehouse Lease 
Agreement” 
 
LF 
Logistics 
Warehouse 
Lease 
Agreement 

: The lease agreement entered into 
between the Trustee (as lessor) and 
the Sponsor (as lessee) dated 25 
September 2020 (being the renewal 
of the initial lease agreement dated 
24 November 2010) on the principle 
of Ijarah whereby the Trustee agreed 
to lease the beneficial ownership of 
the LF Logistics Warehouse to the 
Sponsor in consideration of the lease 
payment of RM3,800,000 per annum 
to the Fund for a subsequent period 
of 10 years commencing from 1 
December 2020 and subject to such 
extension and rental revision as may 
be agreed by the Trustee and the 
Sponsor; and shall include any 
amendments, substitutions, 
variations or supplements thereto 
 
Note: LF Logistics Warehouse was 
previously known as Logistics 
Warehouse 
 

 

Chapter 1 - Definitions, “Maersk Warehouse Lease 
Agreement” 
 
Maersk 
Warehouse 
Lease 
Agreement 

: The lease agreement entered into 
between the Trustee (as lessor) and the 
Sponsor (as lessee) dated 7 December 
2023 on the principle of Ijarah whereby the 
Trustee agreed to lease the beneficial 
ownership of the Maersk Warehouse to 
the Sponsor in consideration of the lease 
payment of RM8,775,000.00 per annum to 
the Fund commencing from 15 January 
2024 until 30 November 2029 and subject 
to such extension and rental revision as 
may be agreed by the Trustee and the 
Sponsor; and shall include any 
amendments, substitutions, variations or 
supplementals thereto 
 
 
 
 
 
Note: Maersk Warehouse was previously 
known as LF Logistics Warehouse 
 

 

7. 
 

Chapter 1 - Definitions, “Wisma Consplant Lease 
Agreement” 
 
Wisma 
Consplant 
Lease 
Agreement 

: The lease agreement entered into 
between the Trustee (as lessor) and 
the Sponsor (as lessee) dated 14 
October 2013 on the principle of 
Ijarah whereby the Trustee agrees to 
lease the beneficial ownership of 
Wisma Consplant to the Sponsor in 
consideration of the lease payment of 
RM7,750,000 per annum to the Fund 
for a period of 10 years commencing 
from 17 October 2013 and subject to 
such extension and rental revision as 
may be agreed by the Trustee and 
the Sponsor; and shall include any 
amendments, substitutions, 
variations or supplementals thereto 
 

 

Chapter 1 - Definitions, “Wisma Consplant Lease Agreement” 
 
Wisma 
Consplant 
Lease 
Agreement 

: The lease agreement entered into 
between the Trustee (as lessor) and the 
Sponsor (as lessee) dated 7 December 
2023 on the principle of Ijarah whereby the 
Trustee agrees to lease the beneficial 
ownership of Wisma Consplant to the 
Sponsor in consideration of the lease 
payment of RM9,225,000.00 per annum to 
the Fund commencing from 15 January 
2024 until 16 October 2033 and subject to 
such extension and rental revision as may 
be agreed by the Trustee and the 
Sponsor; and shall include any 
amendments, substitutions, variations or 
supplementals thereto 
 

 

8. Chapter 1 – Corporate Directory, “Registered and 
Business Office”, Sponsor 
 
Registered 
and 
Business 
Office 

:  
 
 
 
 
 
Level 9, Block D, Dataran PHB 
Saujana Resort, Section U2 
40150 Shah Alam 
Selangor Darul Ehsan 
 
Telephone: 03-7711 3000 
Fax           : 03-7711 3030 
Website    : www.phb.com.my 
 
 

 

Chapter 1 – Corporate Directory, “Registered and Business 
Office”, Sponsor 
 
Registered 
Office 
 
 
 
Business 
Office 
 

: 
 
 
 
 
 
: 

Level 6, Block E, Dataran PHB 
Saujana Resort, Section U2 
40150 Shah Alam 
Selangor Darul Ehsan 
 
Level 9, Block D, Dataran PHB 
Saujana Resort, Section U2 
40150 Shah Alam 
Selangor Darul Ehsan 
 
Telephone: 03-7711 3000 
Fax           : 03-7711 3030 
Website    : www.phb.com.my 

   
 

 



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 (cont'd)

E. Significant Changes in The State of Affairs of the Fund (cont'd)

(ix)

NO PRINCIPAL PROSPECTUS THIRD SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS 

9. Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, Section 2.3.1 – 
Establishment of the Fund and Acquisition of Lese 
Assets, items (viii) – (xii) 
 
(viii) On 8 August 2017, the Trustee acquired the beneficial 

interest in Menara Teras and Empire Shopping Gallery 
from the Sponsor for a consideration of 
RM550,000,000 settled by the issue of 550,000,000 
Units to the Sponsor. 
 

(ix) On 29 September 2022, the Trustee acquired the 
beneficial interest in Hospital Pakar Damansara 2 and 
Marlborough College from the Sponsor for a total 
consideration of RM650,000,000 settled by the issue 
of 650,000,000 Units to the Sponsor. 

 
(x) Pursuant to the Transaction Documents entered into 

between the Trustee and the Sponsor, the Sponsor 
may substitute existing Real Estate Assets of the Fund 
with new Real Estate Asset of equivalent or greater 
value. The Trustee and the Sponsor have agreed for 
Menara 1 Sentrum to be substituted with the same 
asset at a higher injection value (“New Asset”) and the 
Sponsor had, vide notice of exercise of the Substitution 
Undertaking dated 29 August 2022, exercise its rights 
under the Substitution Undertaking dated 18 February 
2016 to substitute Menara 1 Sentrum with the re-
injection of the New Asset. As the value of the New 
Asset is greater in value by RM150,000,000, an 
additional 150,000,000 Units have been issued to the 
Sponsor on 30 November 2022. 

 
(xi) As at 1 October 2022, the Fund’s assets comprise of 

the beneficial ownership of the Lease Assets, Islamic 
deposits in income bearing accounts and Islamic 
negotiable certificates of deposits issued by financial 
institutions licensed by Bank Negara Malaysia. 

 
(xii) Unit Holders shall be notified of any new acquisitions 

(either of a single property or multiple properties) 
exceeding RM500,000,000.00 via a supplemental 
prospectus. Nonetheless, Unit Holders may keep track 
of all new acquisitions of properties regardless of the 
amount via announcements on the websites of the 
Sponsor and Manager respectively. 

Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, Section 2.3.1 – Establishment 
of the Fund and Acquisition of Lese Assets, items (viii) – (xiv) 
 
(viii) On 8 August 2017, the Trustee acquired the beneficial interest 

in Menara Teras and NU Empire from the Sponsor for a 
consideration of RM550,000,000 settled by the issue of 
550,000,000 Units to the Sponsor. 
 

(ix) On 29 September 2022, the Trustee acquired the beneficial 
interest in Hospital Pakar Damansara 2 and Marlborough 
College from the Sponsor for a total consideration of 
RM650,000,000 settled by the issue of 650,000,000 Units to 
the Sponsor. 

 
(x) Pursuant to the Transaction Documents entered into between 

the Trustee and the Sponsor, the Sponsor may substitute 
existing Real Estate Assets of the Fund with new Real Estate 
Asset of equivalent or greater value. The Trustee and the 
Sponsor have agreed for Menara 1 Sentrum to be substituted 
with the same asset at a higher injection value (“New Asset”) 
and the Sponsor had, vide notice of exercise of the 
Substitution Undertaking dated 29 August 2022, exercise its 
rights under the Substitution Undertaking dated 18 February 
2016 to substitute Menara 1 Sentrum with the re-injection of 
the New Asset. As the value of the New Asset is greater in 
value by RM150,000,000, an additional 150,000,000 Units 
have been issued to the Sponsor on 30 November 2022. 

 
(xi) Pursuant to the Transaction Documents entered into between 

the Trustee and the Sponsor, the Sponsor may substitute 
existing Real Estate Assets of the Fund with new Real Estate 
Asset of equivalent or greater value. The Trustee and the 
Sponsor have agreed for Maersk Warehouse and Wisma 
Consplant to be substituted with the same assets at a higher 
injection value (“New Assets”) and the Sponsor had, vide 
notice of exercise of the Substitution Undertaking dated 8 
November 2023, exercised its rights under the Substitution 
Undertaking dated 24 November 2010 (in respect of Maersk 
Warehouse) and the Substitution Undertaking dated 14 
October 2013 (in respect of Wisma Consplant) to substitute 
Maersk Warehouse and Wisma Consplant, respectively, with 
the re-injection of the New Assets. As the value of the New 
Assets is greater in value by RM150,000,000, an additional 
150,000,000 Units have been issued to the Sponsor on 10 
January 2024. 

 
(xii) On 10 January 2024, the Fund issued 50,000,000 Units to the 

Sponsor for a total consideration of RM50,000,000.00 in cash. 
 

(xiii) As at 1 December 2023, the Fund’s assets comprise of the 
beneficial ownership of the Lease Assets, Islamic deposits in 
income bearing accounts and Islamic negotiable certificates 
of deposits issued by financial institutions licensed by Bank 
Negara Malaysia. 

 
(xiv) Unit Holders shall be notified of any new acquisitions (either 

of a single property or multiple properties) exceeding 
RM500,000,000.00 via a supplemental prospectus. 
Nonetheless, Unit Holders may keep track of all new 
acquisitions of properties regardless of the amount via 
announcements on the websites of the Sponsor and Manager 
respectively. 

 

 



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 (cont'd)

E. Significant Changes in The State of Affairs of the Fund (cont'd)

(x)

NO PRINCIPAL PROSPECTUS THIRD SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS 

10. Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.2 – Lease 
Assets 
 
The present investments of the Fund comprise the 
beneficial ownership in the following Lease Assets which 
were acquired from the Sponsor or its Affiliates at the 
respective acquisition price as stated below: 

Lease Assets Acquisition 
Price 

RM’000 

Menara Prisma 260,000 

CP Tower 175,000 

LF Logistics 
Warehouse 

95,000 

Lotus’s Setia Alam 95,000 

Wisma Consplant 155,000 

Avisena Specialist 
Hospital 

87,000 

Dataran PHB 
Properties 

149,000 

Menara BT 165,000 

PJ33 200,000 

Block C, Dataran PHB 20,000 

Menara 1 Dutamas 250,000 

One Precinct 120,000 

The Shore Shopping 
Mall 

180,000 

Menara 1 Sentrum 350,000 

Nu Sentral 600,000 

Gleneagles Hospital 
(Block B) 

120,000 

Quill 18 400,000 

Menara Teras  130,000 

Empire Shopping 
Gallery 

420,000 

Hospital Pakar 
Damansara 2 

300,000 

Marlborough College 350,000 

Total 4,621,000 

 
The beneficial interest in the Lease Assets was leased back 
to the Sponsor (in its capacity or as attorney for its Affiliates) 
(see Section 2.3.4 below for details of the leaseback). 
 

Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, Section 2.3.2 – Lease Assets 
 
The present investments of the Fund comprise the beneficial 
ownership in the following Lease Assets which were acquired from 
the Sponsor or its Affiliates at the respective acquisition price as 
stated below: 

Lease Assets Acquisition 
Price 

RM’000 

Menara Prisma 260,000 

CP Tower 175,000 

Maersk Warehouse 195,000 

Lotus’s Setia Alam 95,000 

Wisma Consplant 205,000 

Avisena Specialist 
Hospital 

87,000 

Dataran PHB 
Properties 

149,000 

Menara BT 165,000 

PJ33 200,000 

Block C, Dataran PHB 20,000 

Menara 1 Dutamas 250,000 

One Precinct 120,000 

The Shore Shopping 
Mall 

180,000 

Menara 1 Sentrum 350,000 

Nu Sentral 600,000 

Gleneagles Hospital 
(Block B) 

120,000 

Quill 18 400,000 

Menara Teras  130,000 

NU Empire 
 

420,000 

Hospital Pakar 
Damansara 2 

300,000 

Marlborough College 350,000 

Total 4,771,000 

 
The beneficial interest in the Lease Assets was leased back to the 
Sponsor (in its capacity or as attorney for its Affiliates) (see Section 
2.3.4 below for details of the leaseback). 
 

11. Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.4 Sale and 
leaseback arrangement between the Fund and the 
Sponsor, item (i)  
 
LF 
Logistics 
Warehouse 

 Address: 
No. 2, Jalan Tanjung Keramat 26/35, 
Section 26, 40000 Shah Alam, 
Selangor Darul Ehsan 
 
Lease Rentals: 
Per annum 
RM3,800,000.00 
 
Major Tenant and Registered 
Lessee: 
LF Logistics Services (M) Sdn Bhd  
 
Encumbrances: 
Private caveat registered in favour of 
ART on 31 May 2018  
 
Note: The private caveat was lodged 
during the tenure of the initial lease 
term which expired on 30 November 
2020 
 
Lease Term: 
10 years commencing from 1 
December 2020 

 
 

Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.4 Sale and 
leaseback arrangement between the Fund and the Sponsor, 
item (i)  
 
Maersk 
Warehouse 

 Address: 
No. 2, Jalan Tanjung Keramat 26/35, 
Section 26, 40000 Shah Alam, Selangor 
Darul Ehsan 
 
Lease Rentals: 
Per annum 
RM8,775,000.00 
 
Major Tenant and Registered Lessee: 
LF Logistics Services (M) Sdn Bhd  
 
Encumbrances: 
1. Private caveat registered in favour of 

ART on 31 May 2018; and  
2. Lease of the whole land registered in 

favour of LF Logistics Services (M) Sdn 
Bhd for 12 years from 18 August 2023 
to 17 August 2035. 

 
Note: The private caveat was lodged 
during the tenure of the initial lease term 
which expired on 30 November 2020 
 
Lease Term: 
Commencing from 1 January 2024 until 30 
November 2029. 
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(xi)

NO PRINCIPAL PROSPECTUS THIRD SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS 

12. Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.4 Sale and 
leaseback arrangement between the Fund and the 
Sponsor, item (i) 
 
Wisma 
Consplant 

 Address: 
Wisma Consplant 1, No. 2, Jalan 
SS16/4, 47500 Subang Jaya, 
Selangor Darul Ehsan (“Wisma 
Consplant 1”) and Wisma Consplant 
2, No. 7, Jalan SS16/1, 47500 
Subang Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
(“Wisma Consplant 2”) 
 
Lease Rentals: 
Per annum 
RM7,750,000.00 
 
Major Tenants: 
Jabatan Keselamatan & Kesihatan 
Pekerjaan Selangor, Hanson Quarry 
Products Sdn Bhd, Epson Malaysia 
Sdn Bhd, Bridgestone Tyre Sales 
(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, Columbia Asia 
Healthcare Sdn Bhd, Assa Abloy 
Opening Solutions Malaysia Sdn 
Bhd, Ninja Logistics Sdn Bhd, NOL 
Global Services Centre Sdn Bhd and 
Pejabat Tenaga Kerja Subang Jaya 
 
Encumbrances: 
(a) In respect of Wisma Consplant 1 
1. Lease on part of land measuring 

306 sq feet registered on 14 July 
2000 in favour of TNB for a period 
of 30 years starting from 15 
January 1995 until 14 January 
2025; and 

2. Private caveat registered in favour 
of ART on 14 September 2020 

 
(b) In respect of Wisma Consplant 2 
1. Lease on part of land registered on 

7 June 1994 in favour of TNB for a 
period of 30 years starting from 15 
September 1993 until 14 
September 2023; and 

2. Private caveat registered in favour 
of ART on 14 September 2020  

 
Lease Term: 
10 years commencing from 17 
October 2013  
 

 

Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.4 Sale and 
leaseback arrangement between the Fund and the Sponsor, 
item (i) 
 
Wisma 
Consplant 

 Address: 
Wisma Consplant 1, No. 2, Jalan SS16/4, 
47500 Subang Jaya, Selangor Darul 
Ehsan (“Wisma Consplant 1”) and Wisma 
Consplant 2, No. 7, Jalan SS16/1, 47500 
Subang Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
(“Wisma Consplant 2”) 
 
Lease Rentals: 
Per annum 
RM9,225,000.00 
 
Major Tenants: 
Jabatan Keselamatan & Kesihatan 
Pekerjaan Selangor, Hanson Quarry 
Products Sdn Bhd, Epson Malaysia Sdn 
Bhd, Bridgestone Tyre Sales (Malaysia) 
Sdn Bhd, Columbia Asia Healthcare Sdn 
Bhd, Assa Abloy Opening Solutions 
Malaysia Sdn Bhd, Ninja Logistics Sdn 
Bhd, NOL Global Services Centre Sdn 
Bhd and Pejabat Tenaga Kerja Subang 
Jaya 
 
Encumbrances: 
(a) In respect of Wisma Consplant 1 
1. Lease on part of land measuring 306 sq 

feet registered on 14 July 2000 in 
favour of TNB for a period of 30 years 
starting from 15 January 1995 until 14 
January 2025; and 

2. Private caveat registered in favour of 
ART on 14 September 2020 

 
(b) In respect of Wisma Consplant 2 
1. Lease on part of land registered on 7 

June 1994 in favour of TNB for a period 
of 30 years starting from 15 September 
1993 until 14 September 2023; and 

2. Private caveat registered in favour of 
ART on 14 September 2020  

 
Lease Term: 
Commencing from 1 January 2024 until 16 
October 2033 

 

13. Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.4 Sale and 
leaseback arrangement between the Fund and the 
Sponsor, item (i) 
 

Menara 1 
Dutamas 

 Address: 
Menara 1 Dutamas @ Solaris 
Dutamas, No. 1, Jalan Dutamas 1, 
50480 Kuala Lumpur 
 
Lease Rentals: 
Per annum 
RM11,250,000.00 
 
Major Tenants: 
China Communications Construction 
Company (M) Sdn Bhd, Malaysia 
Rail Link Sdn Bhd, Rosli Dahlan 
Saravana Partnership, China 
Communications Constructions 
(ECRL) Sdn Bhd, MyHSR 
Corporation Sdn Bhd and Lee 
Hishammuddin Allen & Gledhill 
 
Encumbrance: 
Nil 
 
Lease Term: 
10 years commencing from 17 
October 2023 

 

Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.4 Sale and 
leaseback arrangement between the Fund and the Sponsor, 
item (i) 
 
Menara 1 
Dutamas 

 Address: 
Menara 1 Dutamas @ Solaris Dutamas, 
No. 1, Jalan Dutamas 1, 50480 Kuala 
Lumpur 
 
Lease Rentals: 
Per annum 
RM11,250,000.00 
 
Major Tenants: 
Malaysia Rail Link Sdn Bhd, Rosli Dahlan 
Saravana Partnership, China 
Communications Constructions (ECRL) 
Sdn Bhd, MyHSR Corporation Sdn Bhd 
and Lee Hishammuddin Allen & Gledhill 
 
Encumbrance: 
Nil 
 
Lease Term: 
10 years commencing from 17 October 
2023 
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(xii)

NO PRINCIPAL PROSPECTUS THIRD SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS 

14. Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.4 Sale and 
leaseback arrangement between the Fund and the 
Sponsor, item (i) 
 
Empire 
Shopping 
Gallery 

 Address: 
Empire Subang, Jalan SS16/1, 
47500 Subang Jaya, Selangor Darul 
Ehsan 
 
Lease Rentals: 
Per annum 
RM21.0 million 
 
Major Tenant: 
Couture Homes Sdn Bhd 
 
 
 
Encumbrance: 
Nil 
 
Lease Term: 
10 years commencing from 15 
September 2017 

 

Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.4 Sale and 
leaseback arrangement between the Fund and the Sponsor, 
item (i) 
 
NU Empire  Address: 

Empire Subang, Jalan SS16/1, 47500 
Subang Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
 
Lease Rentals: 
Per annum 
RM21,0000,000.00 
 
Major Tenant: 
Trendcell Sdn Bhd, Toys ‘R’ Us (Malaysia) 
Sdn Bhd, 3E Worldwide Sdn Bhd and Mr. 
D.I.Y (Kuchai) Sdn Bhd 
 
Encumbrance: 
Nil 
 
Lease Term: 
10 years commencing from 15 September 
2017 
 

 

15. Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.10 Sale 
Undertaking, Purchase Undertaking and Substitution 
Undertaking, sub-section (ii) of the fifth paragraph 
 
In the case of LF Logistics Warehouse, where the Sponsor 
or its Affiliates elects not to exercise the first right of refusal, 
the Trustee agrees that it shall give effect to the first right of 
refusal to acquire the LF Logistic Warehouse previously 
granted to the existing lessee, IDS Logistics Services (M) 
Sdn Bhd. In the case of Marlborough College, where the 
Sponsor or its Affiliates elects not to exercise the first right 
of refusal, the Trustee agrees that it shall give effect to the 
first right of refusal to acquire the Marlborough College 
previously granted to the existing lessee, M East Sdn Bhd. 
 

Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.10 Sale 
Undertaking, Purchase Undertaking and Substitution 
Undertaking, sub-section (ii) of the fifth paragraph  
 
In the case of Marlborough College, where the Sponsor or its 
Affiliates elects not to exercise the first right of refusal, the Trustee 
agrees that it shall give effect to the first right of refusal to acquire 
the Marlborough College previously granted to the existing lessee, 
M East Sdn Bhd. 
 

16. Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction 
Documents, section 10.5 Sale Undertaking, item ii of the 
fourth paragraph 
 
(ii) Empire Shopping Gallery: a Call-Option has been 

granted in favour of Couture Homes Sdn. Bhd. pursuant 
to the call-option agreement dated 1 March 2017 
between Couture Homes Sdn. Bhd. and the Sponsor 
(“Call-Option Agreement”) at a purchase price sets out 
in the Call-Option Agreement. The Call-Option is 
exercisable on the 49th month after the legal possession 
of the Lease Asset (i.e 1 March 2017) (“Legal 
Possession Date”) by the Sponsor, being 1 March 2021 
and ending on the 50th month from the Legal Possession 
Date being 1 April 2021. 
 

Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction Documents, 
section 10.5 Sale Undertaking, item ii of the fourth paragraph 
 
(ii) NU Empire: a Call-Option has been granted in favour of 

Couture Homes Sdn Bhd pursuant to the call-option agreement 
dated 1 March 2017 between Couture Homes Sdn Bhd and the 
Sponsor (“Call-Option Agreement”) at a purchase price sets out 
in the Call-Option Agreement. The Call-Option is exercisable 
on the 49th month after the legal possession of the Lease Asset 
(i.e. 1 March 2017) (“Legal Possession Date”) by the Sponsor, 
being 1 March 2021 and ending on the 50th month from the 
Legal Possession Date being 1 April 2021. 

 

17. Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction 
Documents, section 10.6 Purchase Undertaking, sixth 
paragraph  
 
Only in the case of LF Logistics Warehouse and 
Marlborough College, where the Sponsor or its Affiliates 
elects not to exercise the first right of refusal, the Trustee 
agrees that it is aware of and shall give effect to the 
irrevocable first right of refusal previously granted to the 
respective existing lessee, IDS Logistics Services (M) Sdn 
Bhd and M East Sdn Bhd to acquire the Real Estate Assets 
known as the LF Logistics Warehouse and Marlborough 
College respectively. 
 
 

Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction Documents, 
section 10.6 Purchase Undertaking, sixth paragraph  
 
Only in the case of Marlborough College, where the Sponsor or its 
Affiliates elects not to exercise the first right of refusal, the Trustee 
agrees that it is aware of and shall give effect to the irrevocable first 
right of refusal previously granted to the existing lessee, M East 
Sdn Bhd to acquire the Real Estate Assets known as the 
Marlborough College. 
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(xiii)

NO PRINCIPAL PROSPECTUS THIRD SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS 

14. Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.4 Sale and 
leaseback arrangement between the Fund and the 
Sponsor, item (i) 
 
Empire 
Shopping 
Gallery 

 Address: 
Empire Subang, Jalan SS16/1, 
47500 Subang Jaya, Selangor Darul 
Ehsan 
 
Lease Rentals: 
Per annum 
RM21.0 million 
 
Major Tenant: 
Couture Homes Sdn Bhd 
 
 
 
Encumbrance: 
Nil 
 
Lease Term: 
10 years commencing from 15 
September 2017 

 

Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.4 Sale and 
leaseback arrangement between the Fund and the Sponsor, 
item (i) 
 
NU Empire  Address: 

Empire Subang, Jalan SS16/1, 47500 
Subang Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
 
Lease Rentals: 
Per annum 
RM21,0000,000.00 
 
Major Tenant: 
Trendcell Sdn Bhd, Toys ‘R’ Us (Malaysia) 
Sdn Bhd, 3E Worldwide Sdn Bhd and Mr. 
D.I.Y (Kuchai) Sdn Bhd 
 
Encumbrance: 
Nil 
 
Lease Term: 
10 years commencing from 15 September 
2017 
 

 

15. Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.10 Sale 
Undertaking, Purchase Undertaking and Substitution 
Undertaking, sub-section (ii) of the fifth paragraph 
 
In the case of LF Logistics Warehouse, where the Sponsor 
or its Affiliates elects not to exercise the first right of refusal, 
the Trustee agrees that it shall give effect to the first right of 
refusal to acquire the LF Logistic Warehouse previously 
granted to the existing lessee, IDS Logistics Services (M) 
Sdn Bhd. In the case of Marlborough College, where the 
Sponsor or its Affiliates elects not to exercise the first right 
of refusal, the Trustee agrees that it shall give effect to the 
first right of refusal to acquire the Marlborough College 
previously granted to the existing lessee, M East Sdn Bhd. 
 

Chapter 2 – Information on AHB, section 2.3.10 Sale 
Undertaking, Purchase Undertaking and Substitution 
Undertaking, sub-section (ii) of the fifth paragraph  
 
In the case of Marlborough College, where the Sponsor or its 
Affiliates elects not to exercise the first right of refusal, the Trustee 
agrees that it shall give effect to the first right of refusal to acquire 
the Marlborough College previously granted to the existing lessee, 
M East Sdn Bhd. 
 

16. Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction 
Documents, section 10.5 Sale Undertaking, item ii of the 
fourth paragraph 
 
(ii) Empire Shopping Gallery: a Call-Option has been 

granted in favour of Couture Homes Sdn. Bhd. pursuant 
to the call-option agreement dated 1 March 2017 
between Couture Homes Sdn. Bhd. and the Sponsor 
(“Call-Option Agreement”) at a purchase price sets out 
in the Call-Option Agreement. The Call-Option is 
exercisable on the 49th month after the legal possession 
of the Lease Asset (i.e 1 March 2017) (“Legal 
Possession Date”) by the Sponsor, being 1 March 2021 
and ending on the 50th month from the Legal Possession 
Date being 1 April 2021. 
 

Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction Documents, 
section 10.5 Sale Undertaking, item ii of the fourth paragraph 
 
(ii) NU Empire: a Call-Option has been granted in favour of 

Couture Homes Sdn Bhd pursuant to the call-option agreement 
dated 1 March 2017 between Couture Homes Sdn Bhd and the 
Sponsor (“Call-Option Agreement”) at a purchase price sets out 
in the Call-Option Agreement. The Call-Option is exercisable 
on the 49th month after the legal possession of the Lease Asset 
(i.e. 1 March 2017) (“Legal Possession Date”) by the Sponsor, 
being 1 March 2021 and ending on the 50th month from the 
Legal Possession Date being 1 April 2021. 

 

17. Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction 
Documents, section 10.6 Purchase Undertaking, sixth 
paragraph  
 
Only in the case of LF Logistics Warehouse and 
Marlborough College, where the Sponsor or its Affiliates 
elects not to exercise the first right of refusal, the Trustee 
agrees that it is aware of and shall give effect to the 
irrevocable first right of refusal previously granted to the 
respective existing lessee, IDS Logistics Services (M) Sdn 
Bhd and M East Sdn Bhd to acquire the Real Estate Assets 
known as the LF Logistics Warehouse and Marlborough 
College respectively. 
 
 

Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction Documents, 
section 10.6 Purchase Undertaking, sixth paragraph  
 
Only in the case of Marlborough College, where the Sponsor or its 
Affiliates elects not to exercise the first right of refusal, the Trustee 
agrees that it is aware of and shall give effect to the irrevocable first 
right of refusal previously granted to the existing lessee, M East 
Sdn Bhd to acquire the Real Estate Assets known as the 
Marlborough College. 
 
 

 

NO PRINCIPAL PROSPECTUS THIRD SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS 

18. Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction 
Documents, section 10.6 Purchase Undertaking, item ii 
of the eighth paragraph 
 
(ii) Empire Shopping Gallery: a Call-Option has been 

granted in favour of Couture Homes Sdn. Bhd. 
pursuant to the Call-Option Agreement at a purchase 
price sets out in the Call-Option Agreement. The Call-
Option is exercisable on the 49th month after the legal 
possession of the Lease Asset (i.e 1 March 2017) 
(“Legal Possession Date”) by the Sponsor, being 1 
March 2021 and ending on the 50th month from the 
Legal Possession Date being 1 April 2021. 
 

Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction Documents, 
section 10.6 Purchase Undertaking, item ii of the eighth 
paragraph  
 
(ii) NU Empire: a Call-Option has been granted in favour of Couture 

Homes Sdn Bhd pursuant to the Call-Option Agreement at a 
purchase price as set out in the Call-Option Agreement. The 
Call-Option is exercisable on the 49th month after the legal 
possession of the Lease Asset (i.e. 1 March 2017) (“Legal 
Possession Date”) by the Sponsor, being 1 March 2021 and 
ending on the 50th month from the Legal Possession Date being 

1 April 2021. 

19. Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction 
Documents, section 10.7 Substitution Undertaking, item 
ii of the fifth paragraph 
 
(ii) Empire Shopping Gallery: a Call-Option has been 

granted in favour of Couture Homes Sdn. Bhd. pursuant 
to the Call-Option Agreement at a purchase price sets 
out in the Call-Option Agreement. The Call-Option is 
exercisable on the 49th month after the legal possession 
of the Lease Asset (i.e 1 March 2017) (“Legal 
Possession Date”) by the Sponsor, being 1 March 2021 
and ending on the 50th month from the Legal Possession 
Date being 1 April 2021. 
 

Chapter 10 – Salient Terms of the Transaction Documents, 
section 10.7 Substitution Undertaking, item ii of the fifth 
paragraph 
 
(ii) NU Empire: a Call-Option has been granted in favour of 

Couture Homes Sdn Bhd pursuant to the Call-Option 
Agreement at a purchase price as set out in the Call-Option 
Agreement. The Call-Option is exercisable on the 49th month 
after the legal possession of the Lease Asset (i.e. 1 March 
2017) (“Legal Possession Date”) by the Sponsor, being 1 
March 2021 and ending on the 50th month from the Legal 
Possession Date being 1 April 2021. 

20. Chapter 13 – Tax Adviser’s Letter on Taxation of the 
Fund and Unit Holders 
 
-Tax adviser’s letter- 
 

Chapter 13 – Tax Adviser’s Letter on Taxation of the Fund and 
Unit Holders 
 
-Tax adviser’s letter has been updated- 
 

21. Chapter 14 – Legal Opinion From Naqiz & Partners In 
Relation To The Enforceability Of The Transaction 
Documents 
 
-Legal opinion- 

Chapter 14 – Legal Opinion From Naqiz & Partners In Relation 
To The Enforceability Of The Transaction Documents 
 
-Legal opinion has been updated- 
 

 



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Manager's report 

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 (cont'd)

F. Soft Commissions and Rebates

(xiv)

During the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024, the Manager and its delegates did not

receive any soft commissions and rebates from brokers or dealers but have retained soft commissions in

the form of goods and services such as research materials and advisory services that assist in decision

making process relating to the investment of the Fund (i.e. research materials, data and quotation services,

computer hardware and software incidental to the investment management of the Fund and investment

advisory services) which were of demonstrable benefits to the unitholders.

The Manager and its delegates will not retain any form of soft commissions and rebates from or otherwise

share in any commission with any broker in consideration for directing dealings in the investments of the

Fund unless the soft commissions received are retained in the form of goods and services such as financial

wire services and stock quotations system incidental to investment management of the Fund. All dealings

with brokers are executed on best available terms.



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

Trustee’s Report

For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024

To the unit holders of

AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA ("Fund")

1.

2. Valuation and pricing is carried out in accordance with the deed; and

3.

For AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD

ZAINUDIN BIN SUHAIMI

Chief Executive Officer

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

17 May 2024

We are of the opinion that the distribution of income by the Fund is appropriate and reflects the

investment objective of the Fund.

Limitations imposed on the investment powers of the management company under the deed,

securities laws and the Guidelines on Unit Trust Funds;

Any creation and cancellation of units are carried out in accordance with the deed and any

regulatory requirement.

We, AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD, have acted as Trustee of the Fund for the financial

period ended 31 March 2024 and we hereby confirm to the best of our knowledge, after having

made all reasonable enquiries, MAYBANK ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD has operated and

managed the Fund during the period covered by these financial statements in accordance with

the following:
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STATEMENT BY MANAGER

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF

AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 1 OCTOBER 2023 TO 31 MARCH 2024

For and on behalf of the Manager

Dr Hasnita Binti Dato' Hashim Muhammad Hishamudin Bin Hamzah

Chairman Director

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

17 May 2024

We, Dr Hasnita Binti Dato' Hashim and Muhammad Hishamudin Bin Hamzah, being two of the

directors of Maybank Asset Management Sdn Bhd (the "Manager"), do hereby state that, in the

opinion of the Manager, the accompanying financial statements are drawn up in accordance with

Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 134: Interim Financial Reporting and International

Accounting Standards 34: Interim Financial Reporting so as to give a true and fair view of the

financial position of Amanah Hartanah Bumiputera as at 31 March 2024 and of its results,

changes in equity and cash flows for the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024

and comply with the requirements of the Deeds.

We, SITI RAMELAH BINTI YAHYA, being the Directors primarily responsible forSubscribed and solemnly declared 
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REPORT OF THE SHARIAH ADVISER

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF 

AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 1 OCTOBER 2023 TO 31 MARCH 2024

We hereby confirm the following:

1.

2.

Prof. Dr Aznan Bin Hasan

Chairman 

Mohd Fadhly Md Yusoff

Member

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

17 May 2024

Member

Dr Ismail Bin Mohd @ Abu Hassan

To the best of our knowledge, after having made all reasonable enquiries, Maybank Asset

Management Sdn Bhd (the "Manager") has operated and managed Amanah Hartanah

Bumiputera (the "Fund") during the period covered by these financial statements in

accordance with the Shariah principles and complied with the applicable guidelines, rulings

or decisions issued by the Securities Commission Malaysia pertaining to Shariah matters;

and

The assets of the Fund comprise instruments that have been classified as Shariah

compliant.

For the Shariah Adviser of the Fund.

We, SITI RAMELAH BINTI YAHYA, being the Directors primarily responsible for theSubscribed and solemnly declared 
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Independent auditors’ report to the Unitholders of 

Amanah Hartanah Bumiputera

Auditors' responsibility

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Amanah Hartanah Bumiputera (the "Fund"), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024 of the Fund, and statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders and
statement of cash flows of the Fund for the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March
2024, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, as
set out on pages 8 to 27.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Fund as at 31 March 2024, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the
financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 in accordance with Malaysian Financial
Reporting Standards (“MFRS”) 134 - Interim Financial Reporting and International Accounting
Standard (“IAS”) 34 - Interim Financial Reporting.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and

International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further

described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our

report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence and other ethical responsibilities

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics,

Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards)

(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-

Laws and the IESBA Code.

Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon

The Manager of the Fund ("the Manager") is responsible for the other information. The other

information comprises the information included in the semi-annual report of the Fund, but does

not include the financial statements of the Fund and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Fund does not cover the other information and we
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Independent auditors’ report to the Unitholders of 

Amanah Hartanah Bumiputera (cont'd)




#REF!

#REF!

Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon (cont'd)

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Fund, our responsibility is to read

the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially

inconsistent with the financial statements of the Fund or our knowledge obtained in the audit or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of

this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and Trustee for the financial statements

The Manager is responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Fund that give a
true and fair view in accordance with MFRS 134 - Interim Financial Reporting and IAS 34 -
Interim Financial Reporting. The Manager is also responsible for such internal control as the
Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Fund
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Fund, the Manager is responsible for assessing the
Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager either intends to
liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Trustee is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process. The Trustee is
also responsible for ensuring that the Manager maintains proper accounting and other records as
are necessary to enable true and fair presentation of these financial statements.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the
Fund as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on
auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Independent auditors’ report to the Unitholders of 

Amanah Hartanah Bumiputera (cont'd)

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont'd)

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and
International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional sceptism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Fund,

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Manager.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’s use of the going concern basis of

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue

as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw

attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the

Fund or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the

Fund, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Fund represent

the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

We communicate with the Manager regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent auditors’ report to the Unitholders of 

Amanah Hartanah Bumiputera (cont'd)

Ernst & Young PLT Yeo Beng Yean

202006000003 (LLP0022760-LCA) & AF 0039 03013/10/2024 J

Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

17 May 2024

Other matters

This report is made solely to the unitholders of the Fund, as a body, in accordance with the

Guidelines on Unit Trust Funds issued by the Securities Commission Malaysia and for no other

purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.
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AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 1 OCTOBER 2023 TO 31 MARCH 2024

01.10.2023 01.10.2022

to to

31.03.2024 31.03.2023

Note RM RM

INVESTMENT INCOME

Income from lease assets 109,073,817      103,518,730    

Profit income 2,355,853          1,571,448        

Hibah received 10,000,000        8,500,000        

121,429,670      113,590,178    

EXPENSES

Manager's fee 4 9,871,162          10,487,861      

Trustee's fee 5 500,000             500,000           

Auditor's remuneration 9,270                 13,600             

Tax agent's fee 2,300                 5,500               

Shariah fee 36,000               39,000             

Administrative expenses 311,101             301,168           

10,729,833        11,347,129      

Net income before taxation and Zakat 110,699,837      102,243,049    

Taxation 6 -                         -                       

Zakat expense 7 (3,654,735)         (3,451,341)       

Net income after taxation and Zakat, representing 

   total comprehensive income for the financial period 107,045,102      98,791,708      

Net income after taxation and Zakat is made up 

   of the following:

Net realised income 107,045,102      98,791,708      

Distribution for the financial period:

Net distribution 12 102,089,589      95,323,568      

Gross/ Net distribution per unit (sen) 12 2.20                   2.20                 

Distribution date (ex-date) 12 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the audited financial statements.
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AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2024

31.03.2024 30.09.2023

Note RM RM

ASSETS

Lease assets 8 4,771,000,000   4,621,000,000 

Shariah-compliant deposits with licensed

Islamic financial institutions 9 334,223,272      137,870,418    

Profit income receivables 2,001,911          1,574,424        

Cash at bank 10,002,962        3,371               

TOTAL ASSETS 5,117,228,145   4,760,448,213 

LIABILITIES

Amount due to Manager 10 1,026,315          1,830,925        

Distributions payable 102,089,589      103,127,247    

Provision for Zakat 7,140,440          3,485,705        

Other payables and accruals 328,298             316,346           

TOTAL LIABILITIES 110,584,642      108,760,223    

NET ASSET VALUE OF THE FUND ("VOF"), AT COST 5,006,643,503   4,651,687,990 

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

  UNITHOLDERS COMPRISE OF:

Unitholders' capital 11(a) 5,000,000,000   4,650,000,000 

Retained earnings 11(b) 6,643,503          1,687,990        

5,006,643,503   4,651,687,990 

NUMBER OF UNITS IN CIRCULATION (UNITS) 11(a) 5,000,000,000   4,650,000,000 

VOF PER UNIT (RM) 1.00                   1.00                 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the audited financial statements.
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AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS

Unitholders' Retained Net assets

capital   earnings attributable

Note 11(a) Note 11(b) to unitholders

RM RM RM

At 1 October 2023 4,650,000,000 1,687,990          4,651,687,990 

Total comprehensive income for the

   financial period -                       107,045,102      107,045,102    

Creation of units 350,000,000    -                         350,000,000    

Distribution (Note 12) -                       (102,089,589)     (102,089,589)   

At 31 March 2024 5,000,000,000 6,643,503          5,006,643,503 

At 1 October 2022 3,850,000,000 1,886,514          3,851,886,514 

Total comprehensive income for the

   financial period -                       98,791,708        98,791,708      

Creation of units 813,000,000    -                         813,000,000    

Cancellation of units (13,000,000)     -                         (13,000,000)     

Distribution (Note 12) -                       (95,323,568)       (95,323,568)     

At 31 March 2023 4,650,000,000 5,354,654          4,655,354,654 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the audited financial statements.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 1 OCTOBER 2023 TO 31 MARCH 2024
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AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

01.10.2023 01.10.2022

to to

31.03.2024 31.03.2023

RM RM

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING AND INVESTING 

ACTIVITIES

Purchase of lease assets (Note 8) (150,000,000)     (800,000,000)   

Income from lease assets received 109,073,816      103,518,730    

Hibah received 10,000,000        8,500,000        

Placement of Shariah-compliant deposits with licensed financial 

institutions with original maturity of more than 3 months (75,940,000)       (18,000,000)     

Profit income received 1,928,366          1,137,931        

Manager's fee paid (10,675,773)       (10,161,667)     

Trustee's fee paid (500,000)            (500,000)          

Other fees and expenses paid (346,717)            (374,373)          

Net cash used in operating and investing activities (116,460,308)     (715,879,379)   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from units created 350,000,000      813,000,000    

Cash paid on units cancelled -                         (13,000,000)     

Distributions paid to unitholders (103,127,247)     (83,077,645)     

Net cash generated from financing activities 246,872,753      716,922,355    

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

   FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 130,412,445      1,042,976        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING

   OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 137,873,789      118,344,304    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 

   OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 268,286,234      119,387,280    

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash at bank 10,002,962        1,390               

Shariah-compliant deposits with licensed financial institutions

   with original maturity of less than 3 months (Note 9) 258,283,272      119,385,890    

268,286,234      119,387,280    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the audited financial statements.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 1 OCTOBER 2023 TO 31 MARCH 2024
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AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 1 OCTOBER 2023 TO 31 MARCH 2024

1. THE FUND, THE MANAGER AND THEIR PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

All investments are subject to the Securities Commission Malaysia ("SC") Guidelines on Unit Trust Funds,

SC requirements and the Deeds, except where exemptions or variations have been approved by the SC,

internal policies and procedures and the Fund's objective.

The Sponsor of the Fund, Pelaburan Hartanah Berhad, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yayasan Amanah

Hartanah Bumiputera ("YAHB"), and was incorporated in Malaysia on 8 May 2006. The Sponsor, as an

operating arm of YAHB, was established with the objective to increase Bumiputera ownership and

participation in commercial real estate.

The Manager of the Fund is MAM, a company incorporated in Malaysia. It is a holder of the Capital

Markets Services Licence ("CMSL") with fund management as its regulated activity under the Capital

Markets and Services Act 2007 ("CMSA"). The principal place of business of MAM is at Level 12, Tower C

Dataran Maybank, No. 1 Jalan Maarof, 59000 Kuala Lumpur. MAM is a subsidiary of Maybank Asset

Management Group Berhad ("MAMG") which in turn is a subsidiary of Malayan Banking Berhad ("MBB").

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Manager (the

"Directors") in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 17 May 2024.

Amanah Hartanah Bumiputera (the "Fund”) was constituted pursuant to the execution of a Deed dated 20

October 2010, a First Supplemental Deed dated 5 January 2011, a Second Supplemental Deed dated 13

July 2012, a Third Supplemental Deed dated 11 September 2013, a Fourth Supplemental Deed dated 7

February 2014, a Fifth Supplemental Deed dated 20 March 2015, a Sixth Supplemental Deed dated 5

October 2020 and a Seventh Supplemental Deed dated 18 July 2022 (collectively referred to as the

"Deeds") between the Manager, Maybank Asset Management Sdn Bhd (“MAM”), AmanahRaya Trustees

Berhad (the "Trustee") and Pelaburan Hartanah Berhad (the "Sponsor"). The Fund commenced operations

on 29 November 2010 and will continue its operations until terminated by the Trustee as provided under

Part 12 of the Deeds.

MAM has appointed Maybank Islamic Asset Management Sdn Bhd (“MIAM”) as the External Investment

Manager for the Fund. MIAM is a subsidiary of MAMG and is a holder of CMSL to carry out Islamic fund

management business pursuant to Section 61 of the CMSA. The roles and responsibilities of MIAM include

management of the investment portfolio in accordance with the investment objective, subject to the CMSA

and the SC's Guidelines on Unit Trust Funds and any other relevant guidelines issued by the SC as well as

the terms and conditions of the investment management agreement between MIAM and MAM.

To secure a regular income stream to the Fund, these lease assets are leased back to the Sponsor (in its

capacity or as attorney for its affiliates) and income from lease assets is paid to the Fund by the Sponsor

pursuant to the terms of the lease agreements. The Manager adheres to strict screening criteria provided

by the Fund's Shariah Adviser to ensure that income from lease assets is in compliance with Shariah

principles. The Fund also invests up to 66% of its VOF in Shariah-compliant money market instruments

and equivalent instruments and holds cash to meet its liquidity requirements.

The Fund seeks to provide unitholders with a regular and consistent income stream while preserving

unitholders' capital. To achieve its investment objective, the Fund invests at least 34% of its VOF primarily

in the beneficial ownership of real estates in Malaysia acquired from the Sponsor or its affiliates through

sale and leaseback arrangements (hereinafter referred to as "lease assets") and these assets are certified

by the Fund's Shariah Adviser as Shariah-compliant. The real estate assets are mainly in the form of

commercial properties including but not limited to office buildings, shopping complexes, commercial

centres, logistics and industrial complexes. 
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AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM").

2.2 Standards and Amendments to Standards issued but not yet effective

Effective for

annual periods

beginning

Description on or after

Amendments to MFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024

Amendments to MFRS 101: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024

Amendments to MFRS 107 and MFRS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024

Amendments to MFRS 121: Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture Deferred

The Fund expects that the adoption of the above Standard, Amendments to Standard and Interpretations

will not have any material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application.

The Fund has adopted the MFRS, Amendments to Standards and Interpretation Committee ("IC")

Interpretations which have become effective during the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March

2024. The adoption of the new pronouncements did not result in any material impact to the financial

statements.

The semi-annual financial statements do not include all the information and disclosures required in the

annual financial statements, and should be read in conjunction with the Fund's annual financial statements

as at 30 September 2023.

The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial

Reporting Standards 134: Interim Financial Reporting (“MFRS 134”) as issued by the Malaysian

Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) and International Accounting Standards 34 Interim Financial

Reporting as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and applicable SC's

Guidelines on Unit Trust Funds, modified by specific exemptions or variations which have been approved

by the SC.

The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting

policies in Note 2.3 to Note 2.17 to the financial statements.

The following are Standards and Amendments to Standards issued by the MASB, but not yet effective, up

to the date of issuance of the Fund's financial statements. The Fund intends to adopt the relevant

standards, if applicable, when they become effective.
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AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT'D)

2.3 Financial instruments

2.4 Financial assets

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

-

-

(ii) Impairment 

-

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at amortised cost or fair value,

depending on the classification of the assets. 

Debt instruments that do not meet the criteria above are classified as either fair value through other

comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") or FVTPL. 

As the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the

entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Fund expects to receive).

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date

basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of

assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Unless designated as at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") on initial recognition, debt

instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost less

impairment loss:

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. It is measured as follows: 

Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date:

Credit losses are recognised based on the Expected Credit Loss ("ECL") model. The Fund recognises

loss allowances for ECL on financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL. The impairment

model does not apply to equity investments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Fund becomes a party to the contractual

provision of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial

assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair

value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs

directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

payments of principal and profit on the principal amount outstanding.

The Fund classifies lease assets, cash and cash equivalents and profit income receivables as

financial assets at amortised cost. These assets are subsequently measured using the effective profit

rate ("EPR") method and are subject to impairment. The EPR is a method of calculating the amortised

cost of the financial asset and of allocating and recognising the profit income in profit or loss over the

relevant period. 

the assets are held within a business model whose objectives is to hold assets in order to collect

contractual cash flows; and
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AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Financial assets (cont'd)

(ii) Impairment (cont'd)

-

- Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; 

- Significant downgrade in credit rating of the instrument by a rating agency;

- A breach of contract such as a default or past due event; or

- The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 

(iii) Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognised when:

(1) The contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired; or

(2)

-

-

2.5 Financial liabilities

(i) Classification

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. It is measured as follows: (cont'd)

the Fund has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial

asset; or

Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered

into and the definitions of a financial liability.

The Fund classifies amount due to Manager, distributions payable, and other payables and accruals

as financial liabilities.

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date:

At each reporting date, the Fund assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are

credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental

impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 

As the difference between the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future

cash flows.

For balances with short-term nature, full impairment will be recognised on uncollected balances after

the grace period.

The Fund has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset or

have assumed contractual obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay

to one or more third parties under a "pass through" arrangement; and either:

the Fund has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards, but has

transferred control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of financial assets at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in profit or

loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT'D)

2.5 Financial liabilities (cont'd)

(ii) Recognition and measurement

(iii) Derecognition

2.6 Fair value measurement

(i)

(ii) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Fund.

(i) Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

(ii) Level 2 -

(iii) Level 3 -

Financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the

Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based

on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to

generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that the market participants

would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that the market participants act in their economic

best interest.

In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

The Fund’s financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction

costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EPR method.

Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable.  

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the financial liability is extinguished.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through

the amortisation process. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are

categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Fund

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation

(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of

each reporting date.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT'D)

2.6 Fair value measurement (cont'd)

2.7 Leasing

2.8 Functional and presentation currency

2.9 Unitholders' capital

(i) the units entitle the holder to a proportionate share of the Fund’s VOF; 

(ii) the units are the most subordinated class and the class's features are identical; 

(iii)

(iv)

The financial statements of the Fund are measured using the currency of the primary economic

environment in which the Fund operates (the "functional currency”). The financial statements are presented

in RM, which is also the Fund’s functional currency. 

The Fund has acquired beneficial ownership of lease assets through sale and leaseback arrangements

with the Sponsor, in which the Fund is a lessor. The transfer of lease assets by the Sponsor to the Fund

does not constitute a sale of these assets and hence, the Fund has recognised the lease assets as

financial assets in accordance with MFRS 9. Details are as disclosed in Note 8.

Income from lease assets is recorded as earned based on the contractual terms of the lease.

the total expected cash flows from the units over its life are based substantially on the profit or loss of

the Fund. 

The outstanding units are carried at the redemption amount that is payable at each financial period if

unitholder exercises the right to put the unit back to the Fund. 

there is no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset other than the obligation on

the Fund to repurchase; and 

The unitholders’ contributions to the Fund meet the criteria to be classified as equity instruments under

MFRS 132 “Financial Instruments: Presentation ”. Those criteria include:

Units are created and cancelled at prices based on the Fund’s VOF per unit at the time of creation or

cancellation. The Fund’s VOF per unit is calculated by dividing the net assets attributable to unitholders

with the total number of outstanding units. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Fund has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the

basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy

as explained above. 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the

arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the

arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset (or assets) and the arrangement conveys a right

to use the asset (or assets), even if that asset (or those assets) are not explicitly specified in the

arrangement.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT'D)

2.10 Distribution

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

2.12 Revenue/ Income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

Income from lease assets are recorded as earned based on the contractual terms of the leases.

Hibah received from the Sponsor is recognised on a receipt basis.

2.13 Income tax

No deferred tax is recognised as no temporary differences have been identified.

2.14 Segment information

Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised

outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Current tax expense is

determined according to Malaysian tax laws at the current tax rate based upon the taxable profit earned

during the financial period.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and Shariah-compliant deposits with licensed Islamic

financial institutions with original maturity of three months or less which have an insignificant risk of

changes in value.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting used by the chief

operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, in consultation with the Sponsor, is

responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the

tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or

substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Any distribution to the Fund’s unitholders is accounted for as a deduction from realised reserves. A

proposed distribution is recognised as a liability in the period in which it is approved. Distribution is either

reinvested or paid in cash to the unitholders on the distribution payment date. Reinvestment of units is

based on the VOF per unit on the distribution payment date, which is also the time of creation.

Profit income from Shariah-compliant deposits with licensed financial institutions is recognised on an

accrual basis based on the EPR method.

Other revenue/ income is generally recognised when the Fund satisfies a performance obligation by

transferring a promised good or service or an asset to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the

customer obtains control of that asset.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT'D)

2.15 Zakat

2.16 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

2.17

(i) Shariah non-compliant investments

(ii) Reclassification of Shariah status of the Lease Asset

3. SHARIAH INFORMATION OF THE FUND

4. MANAGER'S FEE

The Manager's fee was computed daily based on 0.50% per annum ("p.a.") for the first RM3.30 billion of

the VOF of the Fund and 0.40% p.a. for the Fund's VOF above RM3.30 billion, before deducting the

Manager's fees and Trustee's fees for that particular day. (01.10.2022 to 31.03.2023: 0.50% p.a. for first

RM3.30 billion and 0.40% for above RM3.30 billion).

The Panel of Shariah Advisers confirmed that the investment portfolio of the Fund during the financial

period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024 is Shariah-compliant.

No major estimates or judgements have been made by the Manager in applying the Fund's accounting

policies. There are no key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation

uncertainty at reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period.

The Fund recognises its obligations towards the payment of Zakat on business. Zakat for the current

financial period is recognised when the Fund has a current Zakat obligation as a result of a Zakat

assessment. Zakat provision is calculated based on "Adjusted Net Asset" method, at 2.50%. The

beneficiaries of the Zakat are determined by the Manager, in consultation with the Sponsor and subject to

approval of the Shariah Adviser of the Fund.

This refers to Shariah non-compliant investment made by the Manager. The said investment will be

disposed of or withdrawn as soon as possible or within one month of knowing the status of the

investment. If the investment resulted in gain (through capital gain and/ or profit) received before or

after the disposal of the investment, the gain is to be channelled to baitulmal or any other charitable

bodies as advised by the panel of Shariah advisers. If the disposal of the investment resulted in

losses to the Fund, the losses are to be borne by the Manager. 

This refers to the Lease Asset which were earlier classified as Shariah compliant may subsequently

be reclassified as Shariah non-compliant. This may occur in the event that the lease rental derived

from the activities which are not in accordance with the Shariah principles. Any lease rental received

from the Lease Asset after the reclassification of the Lease Asset will be channelled to any charitable

bodies as advised by the panel of Shariah advisers.

Purification of income

The preparation of the Fund's financial statements requires the Manager to make judgements, estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the

disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date, However, uncertainty about these assumptions and

estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or

liability in the future.
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4. MANAGER'S FEE (CONT'D)

5. TRUSTEE'S FEE

6. TAXATION

01.10.2023 01.10.2022

to to

31.03.2024 31.03.2023

RM RM

Tax expense for the financial period:

Current income tax expense -                         -                       

01.10.2023 01.10.2022

to to

31.03.2024 31.03.2023

RM RM

Net income before taxation and Zakat 110,699,837      102,243,049    

Tax at Malaysian statutory rate of 24% 

(01.10.2022 to 31.03.2023: 24%) 26,567,961        24,538,332      

Income not subject to tax (29,143,121)       (27,261,643)     

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,575,160          2,723,311        

Tax expense for the financial period -                         -                       

Income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (01.10.2022 to 31.03.2023: 24%) of the

estimated assessable income for the financial period. 

The Trustee's fee is computed daily based on 0.05% p.a. (01.10.2022 to 31.03.2023: 0.05% p.a.) of the

VOF of the Fund before deducting the Manager's fee and Trustee's fee for that particular day, subject to a

maximum amount of RM500,000 p.a.

The Fund has been granted an exemption from tax on all income earned up to year of assessment 2024,

pursuant to an approval given by the Ministry of Finance under Section 127(3A) of the Income Tax Act,

1967.

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to net income before taxation and Zakat at the statutory

income tax rate to income tax expense at the effective income tax rate is as follows: 

Effective from 15 February 2024, the chargeable management fee has been changed from “0.50% per

annum, 0.40% per annum, 0.30% per annum for the first 3.3 billion AHB units, above 3.3 billions to 5.0

billion AHB units and above 5.0 billion units respectively” to “0.30% per annum, excluding the units held by

Bumiputera Institutions and the unsold AHB units held by the Sponsor”.
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7. ZAKAT EXPENSE 01.10.2023 01.10.2022

to to

31.03.2024 31.03.2023

RM RM

Zakat expense 3,654,735          3,451,341        

8. LEASE ASSETS

The lease assets held by the Fund as at the reporting date are as follows:

Percentage of Percentage of

VOF VOF

Description of lease assets RM % RM %

Menara Prisma 260,000,000    5.19 260,000,000      5.59

CP Tower 175,000,000    3.50 175,000,000      3.76

Maersk Warehouse

(previously known as LF Logistics 

Warehouse) 195,000,000    3.89 95,000,000        2.04

Lotus's Setia Alam 95,000,000      1.90 95,000,000        2.04

Wisma Consplant 205,000,000    4.09 155,000,000      3.33

Dataran PHB Properties 149,000,000    2.98 149,000,000      3.20

Blok C, Dataran PHB 20,000,000      0.40 20,000,000        0.43

Avisena Specialist Hospital 87,000,000      1.74 87,000,000        1.87

PJ 33 200,000,000    3.99 200,000,000      4.30

Menara BT 165,000,000    3.30 165,000,000      3.55

Menara 1 Dutamas 250,000,000    4.99 250,000,000      5.37

One Precinct 120,000,000    2.40 120,000,000      2.58

The Shore Shopping Mall 180,000,000    3.60 180,000,000      3.87

Menara 1 Sentrum 350,000,000    6.99 350,000,000      7.52

Nu Sentral 600,000,000    11.98 600,000,000      12.90

Gleneagles Hospital (Block B) 120,000,000    2.40 120,000,000      2.58

Quill 18 400,000,000    7.99 400,000,000      8.60

NU Empire

(formerly known as Empire 

Shopping Gallery) 420,000,000    8.39 420,000,000      9.03

Menara Teras 130,000,000    2.60 130,000,000      2.79

The rate of Zakat on business is 2.50% (01.10.2022 to 31.03.2023: 2.50%) of the Zakat base. The Zakat

base of the Fund is determined based on the surplus of current assets over current liabilities and certain

non-operating assets and liabilities. Zakat on business is calculated by multiplying the Zakat rate with the

Zakat base. The amount of Zakat assessed is recognised as an expense in the financial period in which it

is incurred.

The lease assets relate to the beneficial ownership of lease assets acquired by the Fund from the Sponsor

through sale and leaseback arrangements. Pursuant to the Sale Undertaking and Purchase Undertaking

entered into between the Sponsor and the Trustee (on behalf of the Fund), the Sponsor has the right to buy-

back the beneficial ownership of the lease assets held by the Fund at the exercise price and the Trustee

has the right to require the Sponsor to purchase the beneficial ownership of any or all of the Real Estate

Assets from the Trustee (i.e. at the original acquisition price by the Fund) either on expiry of any of the

lease agreements or upon termination of the Fund. Based on the substance of the arrangements, the lease

assets are recognised as financial assets at amortised cost.

31.03.2024 30.09.2023
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8. LEASE ASSETS (CONT'D)

The lease assets held by the Fund as at the reporting date are as follows: (cont'd)

Percentage of Percentage of

Description of lease VOF VOF

assets (cont'd) RM % RM %

Hospital Pakar Damansara 2 300,000,000    5.99 300,000,000      6.45

Marlborough College 350,000,000    6.99 350,000,000      7.52

4,771,000,000 95.30 4,621,000,000   99.32

9. SHARIAH-COMPLIANT DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED ISLAMIC FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

31.03.2024 30.09.2023

RM RM

Short-term Shariah-compliant deposits with licensed

Islamic financial institutions with maturity of:

   - within 3 months 258,283,272      52,653,418      

   - more than 3 months 75,940,000        85,217,000      

334,223,272      137,870,418    

Average Average

WAEPR maturity WAEPR maturity

% p.a. days % p.a. days

Shariah-compliant deposits 

   with licensed Islamic 

   financial institutions with 

maturity. 3.52                 2                      3.75                   3                      

10. AMOUNT DUE TO MANAGER

11. NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS

01.10.2023 01.10.2022

to to

31.03.2024 30.09.2023

Note RM RM

Unitholders' capital (a) 5,000,000,000   4,650,000,000 

Distributable retained earnings (b) 6,643,503          1,687,990        

5,006,643,503   4,651,687,990 

31.03.2024

The weighted average effective profit rate (“WAEPR”) p.a. and average remaining maturity of Shariah-

compliant deposits with licensed Islamic financial institutions as at the statement of financial position date

are as follows:

This represents the amount payable to the Manager arising from the accruals for Manager's fee at the end

of the financial period/ year. The normal credit term for Manager's fee is 15 days (01.10.2022 to

31.03.2023: 15 days).

30.09.2023

31.03.2024 30.09.2023
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11. NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS (CONT'D)

(a) Unitholders' capital

No. of units RM No. of units RM

At the beginning of the

financial period/ year 4,650,000,000 4,650,000,000 3,850,000,000   3,850,000,000 

Creation of units 350,000,000    350,000,000    813,000,000      813,000,000    

Cancellation of units -                       -                       (13,000,000)       (13,000,000)     

At the end of the 

financial period/ year 5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 4,650,000,000   4,650,000,000 

No. of units RM No. of units RM

Sponsor 142,375,086    142,375,086    297,387,634      297,387,634    

(b) Distributable retained earnings

01.10.2023 01.10.2022

to to

31.03.2024 30.09.2023

RM RM

At the beginning of the financial period/ year 1,687,990          1,886,514        

Net realised income for the financial period/ year 107,045,102      198,252,291    

Distribution out of realised reserve (Note 12) (102,089,589)     (198,450,815)   

At the end of the financial period/ year 6,643,503          1,687,990        

12. DISTRIBUTIONS

Composition Composition

Total of distribution Total of distribution

distribution in percentage distribution in percentage

RM % RM %

Source of distribution *

- Income distribution 102,089,589    100.00             93,437,054        98.02               

- Capital distribution -                       -                       1,886,514          1.98                 

102,089,589    100.00             95,323,568        100.00             

The composition of distributions are as follows:

31.03.2024

31.03.2024 30.09.2023

01.10.2023

to

01.10.2022

to

As at the end of the financial period/ year, the Manager does not hold any units in the Fund

(30.09.2023: Nil). The total number and value of units held legally or beneficially by a related party as

at the end of the financial period/ year are as follows:

30.09.2023

01.10.2023 01.10.2022

to to

31.03.2024 31.03.2023
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12. DISTRIBUTIONS (CONT'D)

* 

The distributions declared are settled by cash.

Gross/ Net Bonus

distribution distribution

01.10.2023 to 31.03.2024 per unit (sen) (Note) **

31 March 2024 2.20                   0.30                 

01.10.2022 to 31.03.2023

31 March 2023 2.20                   0.30                 

**

13. TRANSACTIONS WITH LICENSED FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Percentage Percentage

Value of of total Value of of total

placements placements placements placements

RM % RM %

Public Islamic Bank Berhad 1,862,522,380 76.94               529,944,409      30.52               

Maybank Islamic Berhad ("MIB") * 300,790,000    12.43               987,339,000      56.87               

CIMB Islamic Bank Berhad 202,429,301    8.36                 138,134,026      7.96                 

Hong Leong Islamic Bank Berhad 36,167,079      1.49                 80,774,664        4.65                 

Ambank Islamic Bank Berhad 19,000,000      0.78                 -                         -                       

2,420,908,760 100.00             1,736,192,099   100.00             

*  

 to 

The Sponsor announced a bonus distribution for the first 500,000 units held by each unitholder. As the

payment of bonus will be made directly by the Sponsor to the unitholders, there is no financial impact

to the Fund.

MIB is a subsidiary of MBB, the ultimate holding company of the Manager.

 31.03.2024 

 to 

 01.10.2023  01.10.2022 

Details of Shariah-compliant deposits placed with licensed financial institutions during the current and

previous financial period are as follows:

 31.03.2023 

The gross, net and bonus distributions declared are as follows:

Effective from the 1 March 2022, the Securities Commission Guidelines permit a fund to distribute out

of income (which includes current year’s realised income) or out of capital (which includes prior year’s

realised income).
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14. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(a) Significant related party transactions

01.10.2023 01.10.2022

to to

31.03.2024 31.03.2023

RM RM

MIB:

  Profit income 97,126               112,745           

Pelaburan Hartanah Berhad:

Income from lease assets 109,073,817      103,518,730    

Purchase of lease assets/ Renewal of lease agreements (150,000,000)     (800,000,000)   

(b) Significant related party balances

31.03.2024 30.09.2023

RM RM

MIB:

Cash at bank 10,002,962        3,371               

15. TOTAL EXPENSE RATIO ("TER")

16. PORTFOLIO TURNOVER RATIO ("PTR")

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following are 

the significant related party transactions and balances of the Fund:

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Fund, the

Manager or the Sponsor if the Fund, the Manager or the Sponsor has the ability directly or indirectly, to

control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decision,

or vice versa, or where the Fund or the Manager and the party are subject to common control or common

significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

The TER of the Fund is the ratio of the sum of fees and expenses incurred by the Fund to the average

VOF of the Fund calculated on a daily basis. For the financial period from 1 October 2023 to 31 March

2024, the TER of the Fund stood at 0.22% (01.10.2022 to 31.03.2023: 0.26%). 

The Manager is of the opinion that the transactions with the related parties have been entered into in the

normal course of business and have been established on terms and conditions that are not materially

different from that obtainable in transactions with unrelated parties.

As the Fund invests in beneficial ownership of lease assets, the PTR is not applicable to the Fund. 

25



AMANAH HARTANAH BUMIPUTERA

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

There were no changes in the reportable operating segments during the financial period.

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Classification of financial instruments

Financial Financial

assets liabilities

at amortised at amortised

cost cost Total

31.03.2024 RM RM RM

Assets

Lease assets 4,771,000,000 -                         4,771,000,000 

Shariah-compliant deposits with 

licensed Islamic financial institutions 334,223,272    -                         334,223,272    

Profit income receivables 2,001,911        -                         2,001,911        

Cash at bank 10,002,962      -                         10,002,962      

Total financial assets 5,117,228,145 -                         5,117,228,145 

Liabilities

Amount due to Manager -                       1,026,315          1,026,315        

Distributions payable -                       102,089,589      102,089,589    

Other payables and accruals -                       328,298             328,298           

Total financial liabilities -                       103,444,202      103,444,202    

The Portfolio Management Committee (the "PMC") of the Manager, being the chief operating decision

maker, in consultation with the Sponsor, makes the strategic decisions on the resources allocation of the

Fund. The decisions are based on an integrated investment strategy to ensure the Fund achieve its

targeted return with an acceptable level of risk within the portfolio.

The following table analyses the financial assets and liabilities (excluding tax-related matters) of the

Fund in the statement of financial position as at the reporting date by the class of financial instrument

to which they are assigned, and therefore by the measurement basis.

The internal reporting for the Fund’s assets, liabilities and performance is prepared on a consistent basis

with the measurement and recognition principles of MFRS and IFRS.

The Fund’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis at either fair

value or at amortised cost based on their respective classifications. The material accounting policy in

Note 2.3 to Note 2.17 to the financial statements describe how the classes of financial instruments are

measured, and how income and expenses are recognised.

On this basis, the PMC considers the business of the Fund to have a single operating segment located in

Malaysia. Asset allocation decisions are based on a single, integrated investment strategy and the Fund's

performance is evaluated on an overall basis.

The PMC is responsible for the performance of the Fund by investing primarily in the beneficial ownership

of real estates in Malaysia from the Sponsor in particular commercial properties including but not limited to

office buildings, shopping complexes, commercial centres, logistics and industrial complexes. The Fund

also invests in Shariah-compliant money market and equivalent instruments and holds cash to meet its

liquidity requirements. 
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)

(a) Classification of financial instruments (cont'd)

Financial Financial

assets liabilities

at amortised at amortised

cost cost Total

30.09.2023 RM RM RM

Assets

Lease assets 4,621,000,000 -                         4,621,000,000 

Shariah-compliant deposits with 

licensed Islamic financial institutions 137,870,418    -                         137,870,418    

Profit income receivables 1,574,424        -                         1,574,424        

Cash at bank 3,371               -                         3,371               

Total financial assets 4,760,448,213 -                         4,760,448,213 

Liabilities

Amount due to Manager -                       1,830,925          1,830,925        

Distributions payable -                       103,127,247      103,127,247    

Other payables and accruals -                       316,346             316,346           

Total financial liabilities -                       105,274,518      105,274,518    

(b) Financial instruments that are carried at fair value

(c)

19. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Fund’s objectives for managing capital are: 

(a)  

(b) 

(c)

(d) To maintain sufficient fund size to ensure that the operations of the Fund are cost-efficient.

No changes were made to the capital management objectives, policies or processes during the current

financial period.

To maintain sufficient liquidity to provide unitholders with regular and stable distributions and to meet

the expenses of the Fund and other obligations as they arise; and

There are no financial assets of the Fund that are carried at fair value as at 31 March 2024

(30.09.2023: Nil).

To achieve consistent returns while safeguarding capital by using various investment strategies;

As for lease assets, the amount represented on the statement of financial position approximates fair

value as it represents the amount which the Fund can recover from the Sponsor should the Sponsor

reacquire the respective properties upon non-renewal of lease or termination of the Fund.

Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are

reasonable approximations of fair value 

To invest in investments meeting the description, risk exposure and expected return indicated in its

prospectus; 

The Fund's financial instruments, other than lease assets, are not carried at fair value but their

carrying amounts are reasonable approximations of fair value due to their short-term maturity.

Accordingly, there are no fair value hierarchy disclosures presented.
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